#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALLEN WARD COX,	)	
Appellant,	) )	
VS.	) CASE N	UMBER SC00-1751
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
Appellee.	) ) )	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# **

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The record comprises twenty-nine volumes. Volumes I through IX contain various pleadings filed in the case with pages numbered consecutively from 1 to 1732. Volumes X though XXIX consist of the transcripts of hearings, guilt phase, penalty phase, and sentencing. These transcript pages are numbered consecutively beginning with page 1 and concluding with 4011. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using a roman numeral to designate volume number followed by a reference to the pertinent pages.

# **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 5, 1999, a Lake County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Allen Ward Cox, the appellant, with the premeditated first-degree

murder<sup>1</sup> of Thomas M. Baker, Jr. The indictment also charged one count of battery in a detention facility.<sup>2</sup> The victim of the battery was Lawrence Wood, another inmate. (I 1) Appellant entered a plea of not guilty to both counts and filed a notice under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.202 (demand for discovery). (I 11-13)

Appellant filed several pretrial motions dealing with Florida's death penalty. See e.g., (I 132-86; II 187-205, 208-387, III 388-91, 454) Prior to the commencement of the guilt/innocence phase, the trial court ordered, over defense objection, Dr. McMann (a penalty phase mental health witness) to turn over to the state's expert all of her test results and notes. The trial court also allowed the state to depose Dr. McMann prior to the commencement of any trial proceedings. (XI 326-38, 362-86)

Immediately prior to jury selection, appellant pled guilty to count II of the indictment, battery in a detention facility. (XII 411-20)

Prior to any inmate testimony, the trial court granted appellant's motion in limine. The trial court excluded any testimony regarding appellant's statement that he was already serving two life sentences. The trial court ruled that any probative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> §782.04(1)(a)1, Fla. Stat. (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> §§784.03, 784.02, Fla. Stat. (1998).

value was outweighed by the prejudice. (XVI 1381-84)

During the testimony of Inspector Faulk, the witness erroneously told the jury that the maximum sentence for second degree murder was twenty-five years. The trial court denied appellant's motion for mistrial but gave a curative instruction. (XIX 1834-41)

Inspector Fault also testified that approximately one week after the murder, appellant made an oral statement to Faulk indicating that appellant had heard that they had found the murder weapon. Following a hearing, the trial court found that there was no discovery violation and, in the alternative, that any violation was inadvertent. Appellant's subsequent motion for mistrial was denied. (XIX 1926-50)

After the state rested appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal based on the circumstantial nature of the evidence and the lack of evidence proving premeditation. The trial court denied the motion. (XX 2145-69)

During the appellant's case-in-chief, an inmate witness who had become hostile to the defense blurted out an unresponsive answer that revealed that appellant was serving two life sentences. The trial court denied appellant's subsequent motion for mistrial but did give a curative instruction. (XXII 2463-77)

Appellant presented the testimony of several other witnesses, introduced

physical evidence, and testified in his own behalf. The defense rested and renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (XXIII 2713-14)

The state presented three witnesses in rebuttal. (XXIII 2722-XIV 2818)

Appellant presented one witness in surrebuttal. (XIV 2823-27) Appellant's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (XIV 2837)

A penalty phase commenced on March 16, 2000. (XXV 3035) Appellant attempted to stipulate to his prior violent felony convictions. Appellant's offer was rebuffed by the state and denied by the trial court. (XI 220-29; XXV 3036-41, 3089) The state's entire case-in-chief at the penalty phase consisted of the testimony from five victims of appellant's prior violent felony convictions. (XXV 3090-3136)

Appellant presented the testimony of several family members as well as a mental health expert during the penalty phase case-in-chief. (XXV 3147-3200; XXVI 3279, 3326-3400; XXVII 3401-16, 3503-3600)

The state presented several witnesses in rebuttal at the penalty phase. (XXVII 3417-48; XXVIII 3612-3750) Appellant recalled one witness in surrebuttal. (XXVIII 3751-55)

Appellant proposed over twenty special jury instructions, some of which the trial court granted although most were denied. (XXVI 3283-23) The trial court

overruled appellant's string of objections to the jury being instructed regarding the heinousness factor (HAC) as well as the heightened premeditation factor (CCP). (XXVI 3463-86)

During closing argument by the state, appellant's objection was overruled.

(XXIX 3809-10) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a recommendation (10-2) that the trial court impose the death penalty. (XXIX 3886-90)

Following a hearing on June 29, 2000 (XXIX 3903-93), the trial court sentenced Allen Cox to death on July 24, 2000. (XXIX 3903-4008) In sentencing Allen Cox to death, the trial court found four aggravating factors. The court also found substantial mitigation. (VIII 1513-60) The trial court sentenced appellant to five years on the battery count. (VIII 1576)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on August 23, 2000. (IX 1587-88) This brief follows.

# **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

# **State's Guilt Phase Case-in-Chief**

The killing at issue occurred at Lake Correctional Institute (hereinafter LCI) near Clermont, Florida. In December, 1998, LCI was home to almost 1,000 inmates. (XV 1027-32) The prison was also a "psych camp", in the vernacular,

meaning that many of the inmates suffered some form of mental illness. The facility included a 180 bed mental health unit that housed inmates in a secure facility. (XV 1032) LCI was also home to approximately 200 inmates on outpatient status who took medication and received therapy. However, they worked alongside the rest of the inmates on the compound. (XV 1033-49)

On December 21, 1998, Thomas Baker, Jr. was stabbed in the prison yard near the canteen. After he was stabbed, Baker ran to corrections officer Susan Parker's post in C-dorm, arriving at approximately 12:45 p.m. Baker told Officer Parker that he had been stabbed. Baker seemed to be in some distress. (XV 1116-22) Officer Parker called for assistance and began ministering to inmate Baker. Once Baker's shirt was removed, Officer Parker noticed a small puncture wound in his back. (XV 1122) Officer Parker asked Baker who had stabbed him. Baker responded, "Big Al, Echo dorm, quad 3." (XV 1050-52, 1129)

Unfortunately for inmate Baker, medical help was not immediately forthcoming. (XV 1050-52) Although the puncture wound in Baker's back was not bleeding externally, Baker exclaimed that his lungs were filling up with blood. Additionally, the corrections staff noticed blood trickling from Baker's mouth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Further questioning revealed that Baker did not know his assailant's Christian name. (XV 1129)

Rather than wait for the emergency cart any longer, several officers put Baker on a stretcher and took him to the medical unit. (XV 1050-52, 1165)

Thomas Baker lost consciousness and died approximately fifteen minutes after the initial attack. The cause of death was a single stab wound to the chest accompanied by internal blood loss. (XIV 996) The fatal wound was to the left side of Baker's back below the shoulder blade. The wound entered the chest cavity between two ribs, went through the midpoint of his left lung, through the aorta, and then into the right lung. The wound measured almost seven inches in depth. (XIV 991-93) The autopsy also revealed a few small bruises, scratches or abrasions on various parts of Baker's body. (XIV 991) The medical examiner also noted two very shallow, non-life-threatening puncture wounds, one to each of Baker's sides. (XIV 991)

After the stabbing, Captain Johnson ordered the entire compound locked down. (XV 1058-60) Scrutiny of the bunk roster of Echo dorm, specifically Quad 3, revealed an inmate by the name of Allen Cox, the appellant. (XV 1055-56, 1216-17) Officer Joseph McBrayer took Cox into custody near his dorm without incident. Appellant seemed calm and composed without any signs of intoxication or drug use. He had no noticeable blood on his clothing. (XVI 1216-22, 1237-40)

The only eyewitnesses to the stabbing and the events leading up to the

homicide were fellow inmates at the prison. Of course, all of these witnesses had prior felony convictions which were used as impeachment. Additionally, several of the eyewitnesses were psychiatric patients who were taking psychotropic drugs on a daily basis. (See e.g. XVII 1524-26, XVIII 1688-91, 1778-79) All of the information concerning the prelude to and the homicide itself came from these inmate witnesses.

On Sunday, December 20, 1998, the day before the murder, Allen Cox discovered that the footlocker in his "house" (cell) had been burglarized. His property had been stolen. He was angry. Cox stood on top of the balcony railing that day and announced to all of the inmates within earshot, that he would pay a \$50.00 reward for the name of the culprit. He eventually raised the reward to \$100.00 and promised the informant anonymity. Cox said that if he found the culprit, he would kill him. Cox added that he did not care about the consequences. He announced that he was not afraid of a life sentence. Other inmates heard him say that he could do his time on death row with a color television. (XVI 1385-97,

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 4}$  This was not the first time that Cox had been victimized. (XX 2072-78, XXIII 2671)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In prison vernacular, "kill" did not necessarily mean to end one's life . It generally meant the meant the declarant intended to "mess up" or "beat up" someone. (XVII 1440-41, 1538-39; XVIII 1785-86)

1405, 1432-34; XVII 1527-30; XVIII 1647-49, XX 2055-56)

At approximately 7:30 a.m. on Monday, the next day, Tony Wilson, a black homosexual inmate, began fighting with Thomas Baker, the eventual murder victim. Baker was upset that Tony Wilson had purportedly told Allen Cox that Baker was the thief. Baker and Wilson had had a prior feud when Tony's "sugar daddy", Dancing Willie, stole Baker's shoes. (XVII 1506-15; XVIII 1696-1707) After his fight with Tony Wilson, Baker asked another inmate to watch his back. The inmate assumed that Baker feared retribution from Dancing Willie. (XVII 1508-9)

Later that day, during the noon hour, many of the inmates had finished their lunch chow. Almost 200 inmates had gravitated around the canteen where they could buy snacks and pick up mail. (XVII 1462-69) Right before lunch that day, Cox told Robert Nies that Dancing Willie and Tony were accusing Thomas Baker of the theft in hopes of getting the reward money. Cox told Nies that he did not think that Baker committed the theft. (XVIII 1720-21, 1728-30) Shortly before the murder Gerald Hatcher was standing near the canteen. Hatcher saw Cox walking with two other inmates. As they walked by, Hatcher heard someone say, "I believe in my heart that he did it and I think you should kill the little bastard." (XVII 1498-99)

Melvin Young was eating ice cream near the canteen at chow time. He noticed Cox call Baker off the handball court in order to talk. (XVIII 1650-53) Several inmates heard a commotion. They looked up and saw Allen Cox fighting with Thomas Baker. Cox was on top of Baker and was punching him. During the fight, Baker yelled "I ain't got it!" (XVII 1450-58) At one point Baker got up, but Cox grabbed him and threw him to the ground. Cox then pulled a shank from his waistband and stabbed Baker once is the back. (XVII 1593-97, 1650-53, 1738-50). Someone in the crowd yelled, "Man, you're going to kill him." (XVIII 1745) After the admonition from the crowd, Cox seemed to let up and hit Baker with a knife a couple of times below the waist. (XVIII 1758) Cox then stopped the attack, got up, and walked away. Some inmates heard Cox say, "I've got one more of you [mothers] to get." (XVII 1450-58, 1483, 1594-97; XVIII 1738-50; XX 2059) One inmate noticed that Cox stuck his weapon inside his jacket sleeve and walked away between the weight pile and the pump house. (XVIII 1653)

Meanwhile, Baker got up and ran. He fell near the canteen but got up and ran to C-dorm. (XVII 1598-99, 1650-53) A few inmates noticed blood coming from Baker's mouth as he ran for help.

Robert Nies watched as guards and another inmate ministered to Baker as they waited for medical attention. (XVIII 1692-94) Nies later saw Cox by the

canteen. Nies told Cox that he thought Baker was going to die. Cox responded, "I'm tired of this shit. Maybe they will just give me the electric chair." (XVIII 1694-95)

After the stabbing, Cox returned to his cell where he punched his cellmate Lawrence "Woody" Wood.<sup>6</sup> As he hit Woody, another inmate heard Cox accusing Woody of stealing his money. Cox told Woody, "I got your friend, [mother]. You're lucky I put it up or I'd get your ass." (XX 2078-83) Cox then left E-dorm and was arrested shortly thereafter. As Cox was leaving the dorm, he encountered Donny Cox (no apparent relation) on the steps.<sup>7</sup> Cox asked Donny if Woody had given him the stolen money. After Donny denied any knowledge, appellant reportedly said, "If I find out whose got my money, I'm killing you, too." (XVIII 1780-82)

After locking down the compound, police decided that "Big Al" was Allen Cox, the appellant. (XVI 1216-17) They took Cox into custody. A pat down revealed no weapons. (XVII 1217-19) Police did not tell Cox why they were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Immediately prior to the start of the trial, appellant pled guilty to count II of the indictment which charged the battery of Lawrence Wood while in a detention facility. (XII 411)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Of the numerous inmates who testified at trial, Donny Cox held the record for the most felony convictions with 54. (XVIII 1780)

taking him into custody. He cooperated and went with them willingly. They found no blood on appellant's clothing. (XVI 1222) Investigators searching the next day found a shank (a homemade knife) in a pipe near the pump house. (XVI 1244-51, 1257-58, 1293-96, 1324-25) It was not uncommon to find homemade weapons like this on the compound at LCI. (XVI 1326)

### **Appellant's Case-in-Chief at the Guilt Phase**

Dr. Reeves, a forensic pathologist, examined the autopsy results. Dr. Reeves concluded that the knife found by police and attributed to the appellant could not possibly have inflicted the fatal wound on Thomas Baker. (XXI 2251-54, 2262) Specifically, Dr. Reeves pointed out that the knife admitted into evidence by the state was three inches too short to cause a wound that deep.<sup>8</sup> (XX 2175-2200; XXI 2210-14) While elasticity (compression of the tissue) could explain a deeper wound than the length of the knife, Reeves did not believe a three inch excursion in that location would not be possible.<sup>9</sup> (XXI 2210-14) Reeves also would expect some trace of blood would remain on the blade, especially since the knife was so

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The fatal stab wound measured between 7 and 8 inches while the knife in question had a blade shorter that 5 inches. (XXI 2219-21, 2228-31, 2245-48)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Such an occurrence would fracture the ribs. Baker's ribs were not fractured.

crude.<sup>10</sup> (XXI 2217-19)

Appellant also called Vincent Maynard, aka Pig, another inmate in the prison. Appellant's case suggested that Maynard was the true assailant. Allen Cox had owed Vincent Maynard \$500.00 for several months. When Maynard found out that Cox was "holding out" on him, Maynard became upset.<sup>11</sup>

Maynard saw Tony Wilson and Thomas Baker fight that morning after
Wilson accused Baker of the burglary. (XXI 2281-83) Wilson warned Baker that
Baker had better get a knife and should watch his back. (XXI 2283-85)

Maynard also saw the fight between Cox and Baker after it started.<sup>12</sup>
Maynard walked with Cox to the canteen that day. Maynard assured Cox that
Baker was not the thief. Cox asked Maynard to give him a moment alone to talk
with Baker. A short while later, Maynard heard the commotion and looked up to
see the fight. Baker appeared to be reaching for a weapon, when Cox beat him to
the punch and pulled out his shank. (XXI 2298-2305) Cox stabbed Baker three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The state found no blood on the knife.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> It became obvious that Cox had previously had enough money to repay his debt to Maynard when Cox announced that \$500.00 had been stolen from his footlocker.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Maynard and Cox had been drinking buck (homemade prison wine), smoking pot and eating pills (Kolonpins) all weekend. This continued into Monday morning. As a result, Cox was hung over, white as a ghost and "pretty out of it." (XXI 2291-94)

times. Throughout the incident, Cox was white as a ghost and incoherent. He seemed not to comprehend what anyone said. (XXI 2304-6)

Allen Cox put his credibility at issue by testifying at the guilt phase. Woody had been his roommate for less than thirty days when Cox's money disappeared from his footlocker. Cox offered a \$50.00 reward but did not threaten the culprit. Cox only wanted the burglar to move out of his quad. (XXIII 2616-22) Tony Wilson told Cox that he had seen Thomas Baker coming out of Cox's room with a canteen bag. Cox knew about the prior problems between Wilson and Baker. Cox believed that Tony was trying to set Baker up as the fall guy. (XXIII 2622-24)

On the morning of the murder, Dancing Willie (Tony's "sugar daddy") and several of his friends paid a visit to Cox. The group attempted to collect the reward money pointing out that Tony had identified Thomas Baker as the burglar. Cox refused to pay contending that they were attempted to set up Baker. (XXIII 2625-26) Cox subsequently armed himself with a knife that day. He was afraid that Dancing Willie and his friends would make good on their threats to return for the money. (XXIII 2627-28; XXI 2286-90)

Meanwhile, Cox talked to Vincent Maynard that morning. Maynard was upset that Cox had not repaid his debt. (XXIII 2628-30) Cox skipped lunch that day and went right to the canteen for his mail. He saw Maynard and Baker there

together. Cox asked Maynard for a moment alone with Baker so that he could assure Baker that he knew that he was innocent. Before he could say anything, Baker showed Cox that he was armed with a knife and was not afraid. Baker angrily denounced Cox for his failure to repay Maynard. Cox grabbed Baker's knife hand and hit him in the face. (XXIII 2634-39) Maynard ran up and entered the fray. Maynard pulled out a knife and tried to stab Cox in the side. Cox retreated such that Baker was pulled between him and Maynard's knife. Maynard stabbed Baker in the back as Maynard lunged at Cox. (XXIII 2640-41)

Cox was still struggling with Baker. Maynard had been pushed into the bushes. Cox knocked Baker to the ground and forced him to drop his knife. Once he had Baker on the ground, Cox pulled out his knife and asked what he had done with the stolen money. Baker claimed that he gave it all to Woody. As Cox started to leave, Baker began kicking. Cox then poked Baker lightly in the buttocks region of his buttocks. (XXIII 2641-42) Cox then hid the knife in the pipe behind the pump house, went back to his cell, and inflicted the beating on Woody. (XXIII 2641-42)

Michael Johnson, a inmate with only one prior felony conviction, supported Cox's testimony that placed the lethal shank in Vincent Maynard's hand. Johnson saw Maynard and several other inmates talking right after Baker's stabbing.

Maynard and the others then walked over by the lake<sup>13</sup>. Johnson watched as Maynard and his crew took shanks out of their pockets and threw them into the lake. (XXII 2597-2600)

#### **State's Rebuttal in the Guilt Phase**

Willie James Pittman, aka Dancing Willie, admitted that he took two of his friends when he paid a visit to appellant's small cell in a effort to collect the reward money for Tony.<sup>14</sup> Pittman was looking out for Tony who he described as dumb and gullible. Cox refused to pay the money. However, when he left Cox that morning, Pittman thought it was on good terms. (XXIII 2722-35)

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