ALLEN WARD COX,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC00-1751 Lower Tribunal No. 99-249-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 14087 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 Telephone: (813) 801-0600 Facsimile: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

their penalty phase rebuttal." <u>Id.</u> Clearly, the State did not receive an unfair advantage by defense counsel's violation of Rule 3.202. In fact, the State was extremely hampered by defense counsel's actions in preparing for its penalty phase. (V11, T.382-83). The State was unaware of the statement of particulars until after the doctor's deposition. On Thursday, March 2, 2000, Appellant finally filed his statement of particulars. (V4, R.760-67). Appellant's trial began on Monday, March 6, 2000. This late filing violated the provisions of Rule 3.202(c), and the court's order extending the time to file the document until February 25, 2000.

Appellant's argument that the State received an unfair advantage in being able to prepare its penalty phase is completely without merit. This entire issue could have easily been avoided had defense counsel timely complied with Rule 3.202(c). When defense counsel failed to comply with this rule, he agreed to provide the State with Doctor McMahon's report, notes, and test material. Now, Appellant seeks a new trial based on an agreement he made with the State. As previously noted, such invited error cannot be the basis of a new trial. <u>See Pope, supra</u>.

More importantly, however, is the fact that Appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the procedure utilized. The State deposed Dr. McMahon a few days before the guilt phase trial but did not question her about any statements Appellant made regarding the

crime. Additionally, the doctor apparently provided her notes to the State, as required by Appellant's agreement, but she omitted any reference to Appellant's statements from her notes. (V11, T.375). Appellant is unable to point to any prejudicial information obtained by the State prior to the guilt phase. Because Appellant has failed to show any constitutional violation or any prejudice as a result of the discovery procedure, this Court should reject Appellant's argument.

### <u>ISSUE IV</u>

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY REFUSING TO ACCEPT APPELLANT'S OFFER TO STIPULATE TO THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS OF PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY CONVICTIONS AND UNDER SENTENCE OF IMPRISONMENT.

Prior to trial, Appellant offered to stipulate to the aggravating circumstances of previous violent felony convictions and under sentence of imprisonment. (V4, R.600-02; V11, T.220-29). Appellant renewed his objection at the outset of the penalty phase. (V25, T.3036-38). The trial judge ruled that the State was allowed to present the details of the prior violent felonies despite Appellant's willingness to stipulate. (V25, T.3038-39). Appellant argues that the trial judge reversibly erred in allowing the State to present this evidence.

Appellee submits that the court acted within its discretion in allowing the State to present evidence to establish the existence of the aggravating circumstances. The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. <u>Ray v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); <u>Zack v. State</u>, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 121 S. Ct. 143 (2000); <u>Cole v. State</u>, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997). This Court has previously held:

[I]t is appropriate in the penalty phase of a capital trial to introduce testimony concerning the details of any prior felony conviction involving the use or threat of violence to the person rather than the bare admission

of the conviction. Testimony concerning the events which resulted in the conviction assists the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence.

Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989).

Appellant's reliance on Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172 (1997) and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 719 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1998) is misplaced. These cases both involved a defendant willing to stipulate to a prior conviction in a prosecution for felon in possession of a firearm. In <u>Old Chief</u>, the Court stated that a federal district court abuses its discretion in refusing a defendant's offer to stipulate to a prior felony conviction, and instead "admits the full record of a prior judgment, when the name or nature of the prior offense raises the risk of a verdict tainted by improper considerations, and when the purpose of the evidence is solely to prove the element of prior conviction." Old Chief, 519 U.S. at 174. This Court followed the Old Chief analysis in Brown and concluded that "in view of the limited purpose for which evidence of prior convictions in felon-in-possession cases is offered, trial and appellate courts should be relieved of making discrete and subjective value judgments in dealing with what should be a routine submission of prior felony conviction evidence." Brown, 719 So. 2d at 888.

Appellant argues that this Court should extend the <u>Old Chief</u> rationale to the penalty phase of a capital case. If this Court

were to follow Appellant's argument, a defendant would be allowed to simply stipulate to the existence of certain aggravators, thereby eviscerating the State's ability to present its statutorily-authorized penalty case. Florida Statutes, section 921.141 provides that any evidence relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant, including evidence relating to aggravating circumstances, is admissible in a penalty phase. § 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (2000). The purpose of a penalty phase proceeding, unlike the purpose of a prosecution for felon-inpossession, is to allow the jury to make an informed recommendation on the appropriate sentence. As such, the jury is entitled to hear evidence in its evaluation of the defendant's character. See Hudson v. State, 708 So. 2d 256, 261 (Fla. 1998) (holding that "it is appropriate during penalty proceedings to introduce details of a prior violent felony conviction rather than the bare admission of the conviction in order to assist the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime"); Elledge v. State, 706 So. 2d 1340, 1344 (Fla. 1997) (stating that trial court properly refused defendant's offer to stipulate to prior violent felony convictions).

In <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 753 So. 2d 29, 44-45 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 121 S. Ct. 145 (2000), this Court acknowledged that it is "beneficial to the defendant" to hear the details of a prior violent felony from a neutral law enforcement official rather than

from prior witnesses or victims. Although the State is allowed to present the victims of the prior violent felonies, this Court cautioned the State to ensure that the evidence of the prior crimes does not become a feature of the penalty phase proceedings. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also Finney v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 674, 683-84 (Fla. 1995) (cautioning the State from using emotional victims to establish facts surrounding prior violent felony convictions).

In this case, the State utilized the victims of the prior violent felony offenses to establish the aggravating circumstance. Prior to the victims' testimony, the court informed the State that he did not intend for the evidence to become a feature of the proceeding nor did he want the victims to become emotional. (V25, T.3038-41). Defense counsel candidly admitted that he was "more concerned with emotion than the factual content." (V25, T.3044-45). The State followed the court's admonishments and introduced the victims' testimony quickly and without incident or emotional outburst.

Because the evidence in the instant case was probative and not overly prejudicial, the trial court properly refused to accept Appellant's offer to stipulate to the aggravators. Even if this Court finds that the trial judge abused its discretion in admitting this testimony, the State submits that the error was harmless. <u>See</u> <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 256, 261 (Fla. 1998) (stating that any confrontation error of officer's testimony regarding prior violent

felony was harmless because the introduction of the certified copy of the judgment reflecting the defendant's guilty plea established beyond a reasonable doubt the aggravating circumstance of prior conviction for a felony involving the use or threat of violence); <u>Mendoza v. State</u>, 700 So. 2d 670, 678 (Fla. 1997) ("We have found that erroneously admitted evidence concerning a defendant's character in a penalty phase is subject to a harmless error review under <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)."); <u>Henry v.</u> <u>State</u>, 649 So. 2d 1366, 1368-69 (Fla. 1994) (finding harmless error when court erroneously admitted testimony concerning an autopsy report of prior murder to establish the aggravating factor of prior violent felony because there was no reasonable possibility that the outcome would have been different in the absence of this error).

#### <u>ISSUE V</u>

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BASED ON THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS DURING VOIR DIRE AND CLOSING ARGUMENTS.

Appellant argues that the prosecutor committed fundamental error by misstating the law during jury selection and during his penalty phase closing argument. Appellant admits that he failed to raise an objection to the prosecutor's allegedly improper comments. Because there was no contemporaneous objection to the prosecutor's comments, this issue is not cognizable on appeal. <u>See Kilgore v.</u> State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996) (holding that allegedly improper prosecutorial remarks cannot be appealed unless a contemporaneous objection is recorded). Appellee recognizes that the only exception to this blanket procedural bar is where the comments constitute fundamental error, defined as error that "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Id. (quoting Brown v. State, 124 So. 2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1960)). In this case, the prosecutor's comments do not constitute fundamental error requiring reversal.

During jury selection, the prosecutor informed the venire that "if the evidence in aggravation outweighs the evidence in mitigation, then under the law the recommendation of the jury should be for the death penalty." (V13, T.632). The prosecutor subsequently restated the proposition as: If the evidence of

aggravation outweighs the evidence of mitigation, the law says you **must** recommend death or, the law **requires** that you recommend death. (V13, T.633, 636). When a juror indicated that she did not realize the law required you to recommend death, the prosecutor replied:

Well, maybe I'm being too simplistic here. What the law says is that you need to weigh the evidence against and weigh it in the other direction, and depending upon which way it balances out, that is supposed to decide your recommendation. You're supposed to make your recommendation based on the weight. It's not worded that way, but that's a short rendition.

(V13, T.641). Although the prosecutor misstated the applicable law on a few occasions during voir dire and his penalty phase closing argument, these isolated comments were not prejudicial to Appellant. (V28, T.3773-34).

In <u>Heynard v. State</u>, 689 So. 2d 239, 249 (Fla. 1996), the prosecutor in that case informed the jury during voir dire that "[i]f the evidence of the aggravators outweighs the mitigators, by law your recommendation must be for death." This court held:

In this case, we agree with Henyard that the prosecutor's comments that jurors must recommend death aggravating circumstances outweigh mitigating when circumstances were misstatements of law. But, contrary to Henyard's assertions, we do not find that he was prejudiced by this error. Initially, we note the comments occurred on only three occasions during an extensive jury selection process. Moreover, the misstatement was not repeated by the trial court when instructing the jury prior to their penalty phase deliberations. In fact, the jury was advised that the statements of the prosecutor and defense lawyer were not to be treated as the law or the evidence upon which a decision was to be based. Further, Henyard does not contend that the jury was improperly instructed before making an advisory sentence recommendation in the penalty phase of his trial. In this context, we find the prosecutor's isolated misstatements during jury selection to be harmless error.

Id. at 250 (footnote and citation omitted).

Likewise, in the instant case, the prosecutor's comments occurred on only three occasions during an extensive voir dire and once during penalty phase closing argument. At one point, the prosecutor even acknowledged that he was being too simplistic in defining the law. The prosecutor's misstatement was not repeated by the trial court when instructing the jury on the applicable law. The jury was clearly aware that the law came from the trial judge and not the attorneys. Because the prosecutor's comments did not prejudice Appellant in any manner, this Court should follow <u>Heynard</u> and affirm Appellant's judgment and sentence.

Appellant also argues that the prosecutor committed fundamental error during his closing argument in the penalty phase. At the outset of his closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

I stand before you again today on behalf of the decent law abiding people of this community and this state, whom I represent.

(V28, T.3767-68). Appellant equates the instant comment to the prejudicial comments in <u>King v. State</u>, 623 So. 2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1993) (new penalty phase proceeding necessitated by prosecutor's comment admonishing jury that they would be cooperating with evil and would themselves be involved in evil just like the defendant if they recommended life imprisonment), <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So.

2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985) (prosecutor's improper comments exhorting the jury to recommend death as a means of sending a message was an appeal to the emotions and fears of jurors), and <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 720, 724-25 (Fla. 1996) (prosecutor's "'cop-killer' rhetoric and 'message to the community' argument played to the jurors' most elemental fears, dragging into the trial the specter of police murders and a lawless community that could imperil the jurors and their families"). The prosecutor's comment in this case is not even comparable to the prejudicial comments made in <u>King</u>, <u>Bertolotti</u>, and <u>Campbell</u>. The prosecutor's innocuous comment was not intended to "send a message to the community" or to play on the jurors' emotions.

Appellant further alleges that the prosecutor erred in denigrating valid mitigating evidence. When discussing Appellant's traumatic childhood, the prosecutor stated, "I only suggest that you put it in its proper context, it happened more than twenty-five years before the defendant decided to kill Thomas Baker." (V28, T.3799). Contrary to Appellant's assertions, this comment was not improper. The prosecutor did not tell the jury to ignore this evidence. In fact, the prosecutor noted that if the jury considered the spankings evidence of "abuse," "you should weigh that in the defendant's favor." (V28, T.3798). The prosecutor continued this line of argument by conceding that the mental abuse was more severe and that Appellant suffered a traumatic childhood.

(V28, T.3798-99). The prosecutor's comment to place the evidence in its proper context is not improper. Even if this Court finds that the comment denigrated the mitigation evidence in any way, the error is not so prejudicial as to constitute fundamental error.

In <u>Bertolotti</u>, this Court noted that prosecutorial error alone does not warrant automatic reversal of a conviction. 476 So. 2d at 133 (citing <u>State v. Murray</u>, 443 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1984)). Furthermore, in the penalty phase where the jury's recommendation is advisory only, prosecutorial misconduct must be egregious to warrant remand for a new sentencing proceeding. <u>Id.</u> This Court admonished prosecutors to refrain from making improper comments, but noted that individual professional misconduct should not be punished at the citizens' expense, by reversal and mistrial, but at the attorney's expense, by professional

# sanction. <u>Id.</u>

In this case, even if this Court agrees with Appellant and finds that the prosecutor's comments were improper, the State submits that the error was harmless. The evidence in this case overwhelmingly established the existence of four serious aggravators, including CCP and HAC. Appellant, an admitted "lifer" with nothing to lose, decided to protect his image in prison and announced to everyone in earshot that he planned to kill the person who broke into his footlocker. Once he found the alleged culprit, he ordered a shank from another inmate. Appellant then located the

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